## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. The State proved the crime of murder, prejudicing the jury to find the defendant guilty of manslaughter.
  - 2. That a juror was not in agreement with the verdicts.
  - 3. Rogers right of self defense was terminated.
  - 4. The State failed to prove all the elements of the crime of aggravated assault.
  - 5. The verdict was contrary to the weight and sufficiency of the evidence.

**REGINALD VERNELL ROGERS** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO.: 2006KA-00064-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the early morning hours of August 2, 2004, Reginald Rogers and Danny Woodland came to be in the same place in Vicksburg, Mississippi, through no intent of either of the parties. The chance meeting at the Hill Top Lounge put into motion a tragic chain of events.

Rogers and Woodland had a history of bad blood between them, though the basis for this dislike is unknown. They entered the bar at separate times and both were armed with .45 caliber semi automatic weapons. Depending on the witnesses, there was one, two or three confrontations between the two men prior to weapons being fired. Woodland was the aggressor, being lead away by associates each time. The last time, Woodland, as he walked away, turned, pulled his weapon and fired at least twice. One bullet struck Rogers in the chest. Two individuals were hit by bullets at the same time, one in a finger, the other in the rear end. These people were behind Rogers when shot.

As Woodland fumbled with his gun, Rogers drew his weapon in an effort to defend his person from further harm. He fired at Woodland, his focus being on the person that posed a great threat. Rogers continued to fire until the threat was no more. He then left the bar and had someone take him to the hospital.

Woodland, at some point, after firing, turned away from Rogers and later fell to

the floor. Witnesses, giving several versions, stated Rogers fired one to three more shots while in the vicinity of Woodland's fallen body. Evidence of this action and the location of the wounds was and continues to be disputed. Rogers denies any shot to the head of Woodland done in a deliberate calculating manner, and certainly not done while Woodland was on the floor of the club.

During the exchange of gunfire two other patrons were hit. Ms. Green received a wound to her hand and wrist and Christopher Henderson was wounded in the leg. No bullet was recovered from either of these victims. There were several witnesses stating that there were more than two weapons being fired in the club at the time of the exchange between Rogers and Woodland.

Rogers was arrested and initially charged with murder, four counts of aggravated assault and shooting in a building. A grand jury later returned a true bill on a charge of manslaughter and two counts of aggravated assault. Trial of the indicted charges was had and Rogers was found guilty on all counts. He was later sentenced by the trial judge and then perfected this appeal.

REGINALD VERNELL ROGERS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO.: 2006KA-00064-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1

The prosecution set out to prove the charge of murder. A willful, with malice aforethought or deliberate design killing, without any authority of law and not in necessary self defense is the case that was presented to the jury that heard this matter.

Rogers was originally charged with murder by the Vicksburg Police Department. A Warren County Grand Jury reviewed the case and returned an indictment of manslaughter. During its case in chief but especially at closing the prosecution advised the jury that the killing was not murder, therefore, Rogers was guilty of the lessor charge of manslaughter. In closing the district attorney told the jury that Rogers was justified in returning fire after being shot by Woodland. Then, taking the testimony of several witnesses that a shot or shots were fired while Woodland was on the floor, he tells the jury that Woodland was not killed in the first volley. The prosecutions expert Dr. Havne testified that the stomach wound was a lethal gunshot. Woodland could only have received that wound while facing Rogers. The prosecution takes the position that the lethal shot was to the head of Woodland and was administered while Woodland was on the floor. The jury was told by the district attorney that Woodland was down and presented no danger to Rogers so Rogers just couldn't kill him like that.

That statement infers deliberate design or malice aforethought on the part of Rogers. Woodland was on the ground and he stood over him and fired. Deliberate design can be formed in a few moments. Certainly, a lull in gunfire with time for the parties to change positions could qualify as such. If the justification for self defense had passed so had the heat of passion. The State had two bites of the apple though Rogers was only indicted for the seeds.

Prejudice followed this orchestration of the facts by the prosecution. The jury was inflamed by the murder shooting scenario, and no witness, expert or lay could verify that Woodland, was shot in the head while on the floor.

The State set out to prove Rogers murdered Woodland in the Hilltop Lounge.

Once their witness parade gave testimony that was uncorroborated Rogers self defense position was on thin ice.

2

Victoria Thomas Atkins was a juror on the panel that heard the Rogers' case.

After trial and verdict Ms. Atkins contacted the Rogers' family with information she was confused and pressured into the verdict she returned. She may have even spoke out during the poll of the jury but later reverted her answer to the majority. Rogers is aware that a juror may not impeach her own verdict but the juror may let the Court know of misconduct.

A copy of Ms. Atkins' note to the Rogers family was attached to Rogers' Motion for New Trial and in the Alternative JNOV. She never came forward again to give sworn testimony concerning the incident. Such action diminishes the fairness of the trial

Rogers received. This is especially relevant in a case with pronounced issues for the triers of fact.

Any untoward activity that harms Rogers chances tends to lesson the burden shouldered by the State. Rogers has only one chance to make his impression the State will try another case the next week.

3

Rogers right, under the law of this state, to assert his defense against the charges for which he was indicted was undercut by the multi count indictment presented by the prosecution.

Every citizen of this state has a right to defend his person or other against the threat of bodily injury. Rogers exercised this right when he was shot in the chest by Woodland. The prosecution agreed that Rogers was justified in returning the fire after being wounded.

The inclusion of two counts of aggravated assault with extreme indifference to human life watered down Rogers self defense rights. The prosecution scenario could have found Rogers not guilty of two aggravated assaults. Was Rogers to stop and ponder the issue of hurting someone else while Woodland was unjamming his .45? Should Rogers have to be in fear of injury to a third party when he was just shot in the chest and two individuals near him were wounded by the same aggressor?

An unlevel playing field was constructed by the State. Rogers was originally charged with aggravated assault on everyone in the lounge that was wounded. The people shot by Woodland had no recourse.

All the elements of aggravated assault were not proved by the State of Mississippi.

The assault charges for Green and Henderson were a part of the trial. Green and Henderson both stated that Rogers shot them because they saw a gun in his hand and fire. There is no question, Rogers was firing a weapon. He was attempting to save his life. Rogers attention was focused on Woodland and his .45. Green and Henderson were in front of Rogers at the time so assumption may have come into play. Further, no bullet was extracted from either wound, therefore, no caliber, type or other factor was ever determined.

Several witnesses, Green being one, advised police that more than two guns may have been involved. The State fire arm expert could not put all the found shell casings in Rogers' gun.

The elements as given by the prosecution did not take into account accidental injury. A ricochet, for instance could have hit either Green or Henderson.

Medical records showed only fragments of a bullet in Green's wrist. A copper jacketed bullet would have passed through and not fragmented.

The Court allowed the lesser included charge of simple assault to be instructed to the jury. Questions about the assault charges required this action.

5

The verdict in this case rested on unstable ground. First, the prosecution put on a murder case in order to convict Rogers of manslaughter. Second, two counts of

aggravated assault were added to the mix to help insure that guilty was the only alternative for the jury.

Rogers right to defend his person was diluted with the aggravated assault charges. In the same circumstances no one would have a right of self defense against unknown individuals.

The expert testimony was not absolute as Dr. Hayne admitted the shot to Woodlands' head could just as well have happened when he was standing. The head shot would have put him in the ground, while he could still move with the stomach wound. Shell casings and bullets did not all conform to the same gun and not from the gun fired by Rogers. The angle of Woodlands head on the floor precluded a shot from Rogers.

The witnesses all told various stories. No one person knew exactly what happened because they were all ducking and fleeing to protect their person. Numerous guns being fired and shell casings kicked or moved by accident or on purpose. All the events lead to a crime scene that was less than pristine.

The evidence was not sufficient to support the verdict. Death could have been prevented had not Woodland fired first. Woodland is responsible for all acts that followed. To characterize Rogers as the bad guy is against the weight and sufficiency of the evidence.

**REGINALD VERNELL ROGERS** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO.: 2006KA-00064-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### ARGUMENT

## THE STATE PROVED THE CRIME OF MURDER, PREJUDICING THE JURY TO FIND DEFENDANT GUILTY OF MANSLAUGHTER

The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be murder, when done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed. §97-3-19(1)(a) MCA as amended. With the addition of and not in necessary self defense, the state of Mississippi presented evidence against Rogers that proved murder as set forth in the statutes of this state. The act or acts as portrayed by the prosecution lead the jury to believe that a deliberate design murder had taken place. Since a grand jury had already indicted on manslaughter, the prosecution could present any evidence of the death in any manner or form, without qualms about evidentiary questions. This case was tried as if murder had been the charge faced by Rogers.

The killing of a human being, without malice, in the heat of passion, by the use of a dangerous weapon, without authority of law and not in necessary self defense, shall be manslaughter. §97-3-35 MCA as amended. (Record Excerpt 9) This was the charge faced by Rogers at trial. All the prosecution had to show was a killing of a human being, with a weapon, not in necessary self defense.

Self defense became the linchpin in this matter. The prosecution centered its

case of homicide on the lack of self defense. (R711) Woodland was shot in the head at some point in time. (R374, 455, 462) The point in time was at issue in the trial and remains so in this brief (R462 464) Once Woodland was on the floor, the State opines that he was not dead and a shot to the head administered by Rogers, while Woodland was on the floor, was the killing point. (R374, 711) Once the threat of harm to Rogers was on the floor dying, the need for self defense was erased. Loss of self defense was equated to homicide, "You just couldn't kill him like that". (R711) These words were used by the prosecutor to influence the jury. Woodland posed a threat while he still had breath in his body. When turned over by the police, Woodland had a loaded .45 in his left hand, cocked and a live round on the floor. (R496, 499-500) Hardly the picture of someone who was not a threat. The jury was lead to believe Woodland was alive on the floor of the Hill Top Lounge (R711) Dr. Hayne, the State's expert, testified that Woodland would have been alive for a period of time even after the shot to the head. (R457) Dr. Hayne maintained that the wound to the abdomen would not have effected Woodland's mobility. (R464, 466) Woodland would have been mobile and hostile even with a bullet to the mid section.

Lack of self defense in the words of the prosecutor becomes deliberate design.

An intentional act on the part of Rogers to kill Woodland. Deliberate design can be found in moments. Just the scenario painted by the prosecutor. Deliberate indicates a full awareness of what one is doing. Design means to calculate, plan or contemplate.

Deliberate design to kill a person as a matter of law may be inferred through the intentional use of any instrument which based on its manner of use is calculated to

produce death or serious bodily injury. Jones v. State, 710 So 2d 870, 877 (Miss. 1998)

Rogers had a hand gun and was firing at Woodland to protect his person. (R643) Inference could have been enough for the jury to believe Rogers acted deliberately and intentionally as jurors must have felt shots were fired at Woodland on the floor. Their only option was manslaughter.

A person may be guilty only of manslaughter or justifiable homicide when slaying another even though the accused is mad and is bearing ill will toward his adversary at the time of the killing, if the act is done while resisting an attempt of the latter to do any unlawful act, or after such attempt shall have failed, of such anger or ill will is engendered by the particular circumstances of the unlawful act then being attempted or the commission of which is then thwarted and is non existent prior thereto. Each case must depend upon its own facts and circumstances. Harrell v. State 218 So 2d 883, 886 (Miss 1969) cited in Wade v. State 748 So 2d 771 (Miss 1999).

These words are prophetic as Rogers asserts that the death of Woodland was a justifiable homicide. It was a him or me situation that can't be properly explained in a courtroom or on paper.

Rogers just asks for a level playing field where the prosecution cannot spin a case that is far worse than that with which he was charged.

2

#### A JUROR WAS NOT IN AGREEMENT WITH THE VERDICT

Victoria Thomas Atkins was selected to serve on the jury that heard this matter at trial.

Nothing in her demeanor pointed to any potential problems before or during the trial.

Some days after the trial but before sentencing, Ms. Atkins contacted the Rogers' family to inform them of problems with deliberations. She gave them a note alleging she was confused and pressured by conduct in the jury room and felt Rogers was innocent (Record Except 15) Jurors generally may not impeach their own verdict, jurors may testify about misconduct in their presence or about outside influences on the jury panel. Fairman v. State 513 So 2d 910, 915-916 (Miss 1987). Rogers is aware that Ms. Atkins can't impeach the verdict unless there was misconduct. For the juror to seek out the family was an unusual act that smacks of impropriety. This diminishes the fairness of the trial Rogers received.

Ms. Atkins testimony was never given as she could not be found. A handwritten note is the only remnant of her allegations. Obviously, there was enough of a problem for her to come forward at some point in time.

During the poll of the jury after the verdict was read one juror, identified as juror number three (3) in the record (R749) had reservations about the verdict and answered no when questioned by the clerk. (R749-750). Rogers is of the opinion that person was Ms. Atkins, though jurors did not have assigned seats so there is no actual way to know for sure. The trial judge changed the manner of polling and a unanimous response was gained. (R750-753). Perhaps, if the judge had employed this court's advise in Morgan v. State 370 So 2d 231, 232 (Miss 1979), and sent the jury back for further deliberation the outcome would have been different.

Rogers only had the one chance to make his impression, any untoward activity on the part of any of the players works against Rogers. Rogers was and is entitled to a fair trial by an impartial jury and that is all that he requests. Reed v. State, 764 So2d 496, 499 (Miss 2000)

3

#### ROGERS RIGHT OF SELF DEFENSE WAS TARNISHED

When self defense is raised, the State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not acting in necessary self defense Heidel v. State 587 So 2d 855, 843 (Miss 1991). Every citizen of these United States and the State of Mississippi has a right to defend his person against the theat of bodily harm. Rogers exercised his right and was charged with manslaughter and two counts of aggravated assault. (Record Excerpt 9) "Rogers was shot in the chest by Woodland. (R218, 250, 289 -290, 298) This was after one, two or three confrontations between the two, with Woodland always the aggressor. (R215, 217) Every witness that testified that was in the front location of the club stated that Woodland pulled his weapon and fired first. As previously stated he wounded three (3) people, one being Rogers. IF a party has an apprehension that his life is in danger and believes the grounds of his apprehension just and reasonable a homicide committed by that party is in self defense. These are the grounds upon which a claim of self defense must be predicated. Shinall v. State 199 So2d 251 (Miss 1967)

Rogers, shot by Woodland, and set for trial on manslaughter charge also found himself facing two aggravated assault charges. Two individuals unknown to Rogers

were wounded in the exchange of gunfire in the Hill Top Lounge. Rogers was faced with a perplexing situation whereby he could assert self defense in the charge concerning Woodland. Rogers would have to admit to shooting in the club to resist the weapon of Woodland. No such self defense carried over to Ms. Green and Mr. Henderson. (R308, 331)

Including the two counts of aggravated assault with extreme indifference to human life had the effect of watering down Rogers self defense. The prosecutor wanted to portray a scene of bullets flying everywhere and Rogers was a desperado with no remorse or worry about who suffered.

The police initially charged Rogers with aggravated assault of four people or everyone in the club that was shot but did not die. A Warren County Grand Jury changed this to the two people, due to the fact they were in front of and not behind Rogers. Hardly concrete evidence of a crime.

Hindsight is all knowing. Will a precedent be set that if an individual attempts to defend his person from bodily harm in a public place will he or she have to take into account the strangers in harms way? Should an individual be worried about collateral damage when he has taken a bullet in the chest. Had Woodland lived would the State have charged him for the person that was wounded by his bullet that passed through Rogers' body?

The multi count indictment served to bolster the State's advantage. Rogers could have been found not guilty of the manslaughter charge as he acted in necessary self defense. The State retained the opportunity to convict him on the aggravated

assaults, especially with his self defense claims and admission of firing his weapon numerous times in the club. (R642-644) The prosecution stated that Rogers was justified in returning fire with Woodland until Woodland was on the floor. (R711) However, no such self defense was applicable as to Green and Henderson (R715) Rogers had no intent and no idea that he may have shot these two (2) people. Rogers was focused on Woodland, the person that shot him. (R643)

The Court granted lessor included instructions as to the aggravated assault charges. (R681-687) The Court as well as Rogers struggled with the problem of intent as to Green and Henderson. Rogers had no ill will toward them and was not necessarily being reckless, he was protecting his person from further bullets from Woodland.

The water was muddled because of these two charges, once again a fairness issue to insure Rogers a tangible defense.

4

## **ALL THE ELEMENTS OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT WERE NOT PROVEN**

A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life. §97-3-7 (2)(a) MCA as amended. Rogers was faced with this wording in his indictment, times two.

The prosecution put on the individuals, Green and Henderson to illicit testimony that they were shot at the club. Henderson, a friend of Woodlands, stated that Rogers

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