IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REGINALD VERNELL ROGERS

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

JUN 1 1 2007

NO. 2006-KA-0064

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

the argument trying to keep Woodland and Rogers apart. (T. 595)

Williams could not say whether Woodland was shooting at Rogers. She did know that they disliked each other. (T. 600) Williams saw one altercation where Michael Tyler pulled Woodland away. Then next confrontation she saw was when Woodland walked away with Branson.

During the gunfire, Williams was on the dance floor holding on to Lash. (T. 597) After the gunfire, Williams left with Lash, stepping over Woodland's body to get to the door. (T. 599) The next time she saw Rogers was after she left the club and he was running down the street. Williams did not know Rogers had been shot. She did not see a gun. Rogers was with Bentrisa Shelton. Williams left with Lash in his car. They went down Pearl street. Lash received phone call and they learned that Rogers had been shot. (T 597)

Testimony of Bentrisa Shelton

Bentrisa Shelton testified that she arrived at the Hilltop Lounge at 10:30 p.m. and was at the club during the early morning hours of August 2, 2004. Shelton was with her girlfriend and her sister. They were seated at a table near the juke box at the end of the bar. (T. 603)

Shelton first saw Rogers and Woodland at the same time. Rogers was standing in the walkway in front of the dance floor. (T. 605) Woodland was standing on the side at the end of the bar. She did not see either of them enter the bar. (T. 606) They appeared to be arguing and Woodland was doing a lot of talking and shaking his head. A few seconds later, she notice Michael Tyler breaking up the argument. (T. 606) Tyler then asked the DJ to play the song "Run and Tell That" again. Shelton turned to talk with her friend and when she turned around Woodland was pointing a gun. She looked at Rogers and then she got down. (T. 607) After Shelton got down, she heard shots but didn't see any guns. (T. 609)

Williams didn't get up until she didn't hear any shots. She got up and ran out the door. She

was trying to run to the left to go to her car when she saw Rogers holding his chest and bleeding. He asked her to take him to the hospital. (T. 610) Rogers went into his pocket and pulled out his keys. Shelton took the keys, but couldn't move. A few minutes later her sister drove up and Shelton was unable to help Rogers into the car, but he was able to get in on his own. Shelton got into the car on the other side and they left. (T. 611)

Shelton did not see a woman helping Rogers out of the building. When she got up the club was dead silent and not a soul was left in there. She did not see Rogers with a weapon that night.

(T. 613)

Shelton was not the person who helped Rogers get out of the club that night. He was not in the club when she got up. In fact she saw no one in the club when she got up. (T. 613) She did see a body on the floor but did not know who it was. At the time she saw Rogers in the street, he did not have a gun and she and the others in the car did not help him dispose of a gun. (T. 614) She did not see Rogers dispose of a gun during the drive. (T. 616) They got on 61 North to go to the hospital and a sheriff's car put it's lights on them as soon as they got on the highway and followed them to the hospital. (T. 616)

Shelton was completely unaware of what time it was when she left the club and did not know how long it took them to get to the hospital. (T. 617) Shelton did not help Rogers get out of the club and found him outside the middle of the street when she finally came out after everything was over. (T. 617)

Testimony of Rose Williams

Williams was at the Hilltop Lounge in the early morning hours of August 2, 2004. She arrived some time before midnight with a girlfriend. (T. 619) Williams saw Rogers that night at the club beside a pool table. She did not see him pull a gun or pull up his shirt to show a gun. (T. 620)

Williams went to the back into the pool room by the bathrooms to use the restroom. After she returned from the restroom Rogers was gone. She was not in the front of the club and could not testify to the events that went on there. (T. 621) She did see Keithen Smith in the pool room but did not see Smith and Rogers speak to one another. She did not see Smith make a call on his cell phone. She had a conversation with Rogers while standing in the line for the restroom. By the time the shooting occurred, Williams had left the club and was already up by the public library. (T. 622, 623)

Testimony of Reginald Rogers

Rogers testified that he went to the Hilltop Lounge at about 12:50 a.m. on August 2, 2004. Rogers testified that he had controversy with Danny Woodland and his brother Anthony since April or May of 2003 after Rogers Bonita Branson. Rogers worried that Woodland and Branson would fool around again. He asked Branson about it and she denied that she was seeing Woodland. They continued to see each other and starting around August or September, Rogers was practically living with her. That was when Rogers started having problems. He ended his relationship with Ms. Branson on December 3, 2003. He did not keep up with Ms. Branson after that. (T. 626, 627)

Rogers testified that Woodland threatened him and would get hostile if Rogers looked at him or in his direction. Rogers testified that he ignored the hostility. He testified that Woodland displayed a weapon at the Elks Lodge. Rogers said that Woodland gave the gun to Anthony Woodland's girlfriend and was practically telling her to shoot Rogers. (T. 628) Rogers testified that he was in the Hilltop Lounge on a previous occasion and spoke to a girl who was with another girl who dated Woodland. Woodland appeared and took his girlfriend out of the club. (T. 631) Woodland did not say anything to Rogers that night.

Rogers testified that he did not know Rogers was in the club when he went to the Hilltop Lounge on August 2, 2004. He entered the club through the front door and went straight to the end

of the bar towards Washington Street. He went to get a cup of ice and had to walk through Woodland and a little crowd of people. When he went to the bar he heard the song "Run and Tell That" for the first time. When he got his cup and was about to leave, he saw Woodland. Woodland had his hand behind Rogers' head making some kind of sign language. When Rogers turned, Woodland pulled his hand down. Rogers testified that no one in the group said anything to him and he did not say anything to them. (T. 634)

Rogers saw his brother, Lash, and his brother's girlfriend, Melissa Lash, standing by the bar near the dance floor. Rogers walked up to them and spoke and then went to the back of the club to the pool room. He saw Keithen Smith in the pool room and did not speak to him or show a gun. He denied that he took a gun out of his pants leg and put it in his waist band under his shirt, saying "I'm alright now." He denied singing "Run and Tell That" to Keithen Smith. He spoke to Rose Williams and then went on to the bathroom. Rogers then went back to the area by the dance floor where his Lash and Melissa Williams were standing.

Rogers testified that Woodland came and got in his face, that he walked almost up on Rogers and was so close that their faces were almost touching. The song "Run and Tell That" was playing. Rogers testified he had never heard the song before that night. Woodland was in his face saying "Run and tell that. Run and tell that," bouncing in his face and practically spitting on Rogers. Perry Jones and Michael Tyler tried to intervene and get Woodland to move away, but Woodland kept talking. Michael Tyler whispered something in Woodland's ear and Woodland then walked away. Tyler then asked the DJ to play "Run and Tell That" again. Woodland just got more "cronk" at that point. (636, 637) Rogers testified that he and Woodland were close to each other at least twice that night and the he never responded to what Woodland told him. He testified that he never saw Woodland lift his shirt to show a gun. Rogers testified that he never pulled his shirt up to show his

gun and never displayed a weapon in the club. (T. 638) Rogers testified that he stayed in the same spot the whole time and that Woodland kept coming toward him. Rogers then testified, in contradiction to his earlier testimony that he had never responded to Woodland's taunts, that when Woodland was in his face repeating "Run and Tell That", that he told Woodland to "Run and tell that" with authority in his voice and that Woodland then walked away. (T. 639)

Rogers testified that he believed Woodland was bluffing and that he turned around and put his Sprite bottle and ice on the table and that when he turned, he saw Woodland pointing a gun at him. Woodland shot twice. Rogers testified that Woodland turned and continued to try to shoot him, but that his gun jammed. (T. 642) Rogers testified that he realized that Woodland shot him and was still trying to shoot him and drew his gun. He shot as fast as he could while Woodland was backing up trying to unjam his gun. Rogers testified that Woodland did not try to leave the club, but was still there trying to finish what he started. (T. 645) Rogers testified that he never stood over Woodland and shot him in the head. (T. 645)

When the slide on his gun came back, Rogers testified that he knew he was out of bullets and that he had to get to the hospital. He walked out of the club. Rogers testified he does not know what happened to his gun. He did not know if he dropped it inside or outside the club. He felt he was getting weaker and saw Bentrisa leaving the club and gave her his keys and asked her to drive him to the hospital. (T. 646, 647, 648) Rogers testified that he came to the club alone and that no one was with him when he left the club and that no one helped him out of the club. (T. 648) Rogers testified that he did not know anyone had died until his counsel, Travis Vance came to the hospital.

Rogers learned at Thanksgiving of 2003 that Woodland had proposed to Branson, down on his knees and asked her to marry him. At the time of the August 2, 2004 shootings at the Hilltop Lounge, Rogers was dating Bentrisa Shelton. Rogers already knew Shelton when he came out of

the club that night, although they weren't on a date that evening. (T. 652, 653)

Rogers testified that he did not know that Woodland was in the club that night. He testified that he was in the habit of carrying a 45 caliber pistol in his car. He carried with him that night because he had been threatened by them. Woodland was the only person who had threatened him and he testified that he carried the gun in because of Woodland's prior threats even though he didn't know Woodland was in the club that night. (T. 654) Rogers testified that he carried his 45 Ruger P-97 into the club that night. The clip holds 9 or 10 rounds. Rogers testified that there were seven round in the clip that night. Rogers testified that he never carried the gun with a round loaded and ready in the chamber; however, he testified that the clip held seven rounds, and one of those rounds was loaded in the chamber on the night of August 2, 2004). (T. 655, 656) Rogers testified that he carried his gun on his side where he also clipped his keys. Rogers then testified that he was searching for his keys after he left the club and that Shelton asked him where his keys were so she could drive him to the hospital. (T. 657)

Rogers testified that he did not bump into Woodlands that evening when he came in the bar and that he would go around him if he saw him. (T. 660, 661) He testified that Danny Woodland never requested to go outside to fight and that he never told Woodland that he didn't need to fight and showed Woodland his gun. (T. 663)

Rogers gave very specific testimony of his memory of the events of the shooting and leaving the club, as well as his conversation with Bentrisa Shelton. (T. 668, 669) He testified that he has no memory of what happened to his gun. (T. 671)

The defense declined to redirect and rested its case. (T. 672)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

PROPOSITION ONE

The evidence overwhelmingly proved that the Defendant was guilty of manslaughter. There is no prejudice if the evidence proved murder and Rogers was only charged and convicted of the crime of manslaughter.

PROPOSITION TWO

A juror cannot impeach the verdict of the jury and the evidence produced by Rogers is not credible since it is not sworn and the alleged author of the note has not been found. There is no error.

PROPOSITION THREE

Whether Rogers was acting in self defense was a question of fact for the jury and the jury's verdict was overwhelming supported by the weight and sufficiency of the evidence against Rogers claim of self defense. There is no error.

PROPOSITION FOUR

The State proved all the elements of the crime of aggravated assault beyond a reasonable doubt.

PROPOSITION FIVE

The weight and sufficiency of the evidence against supported the jury's verdict which was properly upheld by the Trial Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence overwhelmingly proved that the Defendant was guilty of manslaughter. There is no prejudice if the evidence proved murder and Rogers was only charged and convicted of the crime of manslaughter.

A juror cannot impeach the verdict of the jury and the evidence produced by Rogers is not credible since it is not sworn and the alleged author of the note has not been found. There is no error.

Whether Rogers was acting in self defense was a question of fact for the jury and the jury's verdict was overwhelming supported by the weight and sufficiency of the evidence against Rogers claim of self defense. There is no error.

The State proved all the elements of the crime of aggravated assault beyond a reasonable doubt.

The weight and sufficiency of the evidence against supported the jury's verdict which was properly upheld by the Trial Court.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION ONE

There is no prejudice if the evidence proved murder and Rogers was only charged and convicted of the crime of manslaughter. The prosecution presented as evidence only the testimony of the witnesses. If the testimony supported a verdict of murder with malice aforethought or deliberate design, then Rogers is certainly not prejudiced. He cannot be heard to complain that he was convicted of a lesser charge than the one proved at trial. The prosecution was required to rebut Rogers' claim of self defense and therefore put on evidence of Rogers' deliberate acts of instigation and aggression to rebut Rogers claim of self defense when he killed Woodland. This evidence was not adduced to prove murder, but to rebut the claim of self defense. To the extent that the prosecution may have over argued its case, there is no prejudice to Rogers, since the jury was instructed by the Trial Court to disregard any arguments by counsel which were not supported by the evidence. Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions given by the court.

PROPOSITION TWO

The record reflects a unanimous verdict. The jurors came from the jury room with a unanimous verdict. When given an opportunity to give a clear answer to the court as to whether or not the verdict read was her verdict each juror indicated that she was in agreement with the verdict.

The note produced by Rogers' family is not sworn or authenticated in any way. There is no proof of the identity of the author of the note. The note could have been written by anyone. The note does not allege any misconduct or inappropriate pressure exerted by the conduct of other jurors in the jury room as stated by Rogers in his brief. The writer of the note only says that she was afraid and confused and does not state that anyone pressured her or that any misconduct caused her fear or confusion. Even if we assume that Ms. Atkins wrote the note, perhaps she was fearful merely of the idea of being part of the process of sending a defendant to jail, perhaps she was afraid of retribution from Rogers family and wanted to distance herself from the verdict or perhaps she was confused by the process of weighing the evidence to determine whether each count was supported by the evidence. Whatever her confusion, a juror cannot impeach her own verdict. Once the Court clarified the polling of the jury so that each juror responded to the verdict on each specifically identified count every juror acknowledged that verdict as her own.

Rogers suggests in his brief that the Trial Court should have followed this Court's advice in *Morgan v. State*, 370 So.2d 231, 232 (Miss. 1979) and sent the jury back for further deliberation and suggests that the outcome might have been different. Rogers did not make a motion at trial for the Court to adopt that practice. A trial judge cannot be overruled on an matter that was that was not presented to him for decision. *McLendon v. State*, 945 So.2d 372, 383 (Miss. App. 2006). This issue is waived due to failure to timely object.

Rogers received a fair trial by an impartial jury and the trial court properly denied Rogers'

Motion for New Trial and upheld his conviction for two counts of aggravated assault and one count of manslaughter.

PROPOSITION THREE

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